1983

Timothy Leonard Wood, Individually And
Timothyleonard Wood, As Guardian Ad Litem For
Timothy Johnathan Wood, A Minor : Brief of
Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Timothy Leonard Wood, appeals from summary judgment entered in the Fifth Judicial District Court, State of Utah, in favor of Respondents and dismissing Appellant's Complaint.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant filed his Complaint and alleged an action in wrongful death. Respondents answered and raised the defense of the Utah Guest Statute. Discovery proceeded and five depositions were taken. On the 25th day of May, 1983,

Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asking the Court to dismiss Appellant's Complaint. Respondents did not support their motion with affidavits, but simultaneously with the filing of the Motion for Summary Judgment filed a Motion to Publish Depositions. Appellant did not file opposing affidavits, but did file Abstracts of Depositions in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Court entered summary judgment in favor of Respondents and dismissed Appellant's Complaint.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant seeks reversal of the summary judgment and seeks to have the case remanded for further proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Inasmuch as this appeal is taken from summary ruling in the lower court, no transcript of testimony is available and this statement of facts is supported only by reference to documents in the Court file and depositions relied upon by both parties.

Appellant's minor son sustained personal injuries resulting in death in a one automobile accident which occurred on the 23rd day of April, 1982. (Ruesch depo.,

n. 27, l. 5-12). Respondent, Winston Stratton, was the owner of the automobile involved (Memorandum of Points and Authorities filed by Respondents on the 26th day of June, 1983) and his minor son, Tracy Stratton, was the driver of said automobile. (Gubler depo., p. 40, l. 6-8; Answer to Complaint).

Seven persons occupied the vehicle, one of which was the deceased, Timothy Johnathan Wood. Three in the front and four in the back. Dawnette Gubler was sitting on the console between the driver's seat and the passenger's seat in the front. (Gubler depo., p. 30-31).

The accident occurred on a curve in an asphalt covered road. The vehicle was traveling in a southerly direction in the right lane. (Gubler depo., p. 41, l. 53-54). In the middle of the curve is a depression in the asphalt roadway. The depression is 2½ - 3½ feet deep in the left lane of said road. (Gubler depo., p. 53, l. 2-13).

Respondent, Tracy Stratton, was familiar with said road and dip. (Ha depo., p. 21, l. 11-25; p. 22, l. 1-3; Glazier depo., p. 9, l. 1-14; p. 9, l. 24-25; p. 10, l. 1-4; p. 10, l. 11-17; p. 11, l. 1-11; p. 14, l. 7-11).

On the day of the accident and at the time of the

same, Respondent was driving a Ford Bronco at an estimated speed of 60 - 65 miles per hour (Gubler depo., p. 67, l. 14-22) and the speed limit was 40 miles per hour (Gubler depo., p. 42, l. 17-23).

The speed at which said Respondent was operating said vehicle was such, as the vehicle entered the curve, that the passenger, Gail Ann Ruesch, exclaimed, "Stop, let me out. Let me out." (Ruesch depo., p. 24, l. 16-19). Immediately prior to entering said depression in the roadway, the vehicle was being driven on the right side of the road and then swerved over to the left side and hit the depression at an angle. (Gubler depo., p. 47, l. 12-17). The driver, Tracy Stratton, turned the vehicle into the left lane of traffic while negotiating the curve. (Gubler depo., p. 51, l. 8-25). It is the testimony of Dawnette Gubler that the driver, Respondent, switched lanes to get a better angle on the depression to facilitate greater lift of the vehicle. (Gubler depo., p. 47, l. 12-17; p. 52, l. 1-2). The Bronco then became airborne. (Gubler depo., p. 58, l. 9-17).

After leaving the depression the vehicle traveled the length of a football field. (Gubler depo., p. 67, l. 23-24). The vehicle was swerving from side to side and

and rolled several times. (Gubler depo., p. 43, l. 7-20).

There is some evidence that the young men involved, including the driver, intended to frighten the girls and made plans to do so shortly prior to entering the Bronco vehicle for the drive which resulted in the injuries and death complained of. (Ha depo., p. 16, l. 17-25; p. 17, l. 1-8). That the drive was intended by the boys to frighten the girls is further supported by the testimony of one of the female passengers, Gail Ann Ruesch. (Ruesch depo., p. 36, l. 2-9).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE GENUINE ISSUES OF FACT EXIST.

Respondents did not support their Motion for Summary Judgment with affidavits and did submit a memorandum in support of the motion and relied upon the depositions of four of the surviving occupants to support their position that the Complaint should be dismissed. Respondents also submitted the Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to local rule 2.8 and at no time prior to entry of summary judgment requested a hearing on the motion.

Appellant relied upon the depositions to oppose

the motion.

Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, states in part,

... when a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavit or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him. (emphasis added).

Respondents did not support their Motion for Summary Judgment with affidavits. Respondents relied upon the depositions of witnesses to support their motion. A reading of those depositions indicates that there is sufficient evidence for reasonable minds to conclude that Respondent, Tracy Stratton, engaged in willful misconduct which was a proximate cause of the death of Timothy Johnathan Wood.

Rule 56(e), provides that if a Motion for Summary Judgment is supported as provided for by said rule, and if the other parties fail to respond and raise issues of material fact, the Court shall, if appropriate, enter summary judgment against the nonresponding party.

The Respondents, having failed to support their Motion for Summary Judgment with affidavits and having relied upon depositions of witnesses, which will be called by Appellant, summary judgment for Respondents is not appropriate. Those depositions contained testimony and evidence which could allow reasonable minds to conclude that Respondent, Tracy Stratton, engaged in willful misconduct.

As a result of Respondents failing to support their motion with affidavits and indicating their intention to rely upon said depositions, Appellant could reasonably rely upon those depositions to oppose the summary judgment that had been submitted by Respondents.

If the depositions contain testimony which is sufficient to raise material issues of fact, the summary judgment granted to Respondents is inappropriate.

Respondents relied upon the standard of "Willful Misconduct" as set forth by the Utah Supreme Court in Stack vs. Kearnes, Utah, 221 P.2d 594 (1950), at page 597, which is as follows:

The intentional doing of an act or intentional failing to do an act, with knowledge that serious injury is a probable and not merely possible result, or

the intentional doing of an act with wanton and reckless disregard of the possible consequences. It involves deliberate, intentional or wanton conduct in doing or omitting to do an act with knowledge or appreciation that injury is likely to result therefrom.

Appellant agrees with the standard set forth in the Stack case. In that case, at the close of the trial, the jury rendered a verdict of "no cause of action" against the plaintiff. Thereafter, the trial court granted the plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial. At the second trial the jury verdict was in favor of plaintiff.

The Supreme Court concluded that the evidence was sufficient that "... the jury might well infer that the defendant was driving much too fast for existing conditions and further found that the jury had acted properly and sufficient evidence was before the same to conclude that defendant had engaged in willful misconduct.

The facts in the Stack case were that the defendant driver had three (3) other persons in his vehicle initially and started up fast. A passenger remarked "take it easy" and the defendant slowed the vehicle down. Later in the journey defendant was driving "pretty fast" as the car went over a dip, it seemed that defendant temporarily lost control.

of the car. Plaintiff noticed that a female passenger was frightened and requested that defendant slow down. Defendant slowed the vehicle. After discharging a female passenger the defendant drove at a moderate speed and then began to pick up speed as he approached a curve and he accelerated and braked the car at the same time as the car started around the curve. The car skidded around the curve and left the oiled surface. No accident resulted. Again a male passenger asked defendant to slow down. Defendant laughed it off and increased his speed as approaching another curve. As defendant entered the second curve he again braked and accelerated at the same time, the car swerved sideways around the curve, went out of control, swerved to the other side of the road, skidded, hit the bridge abutment and turned over.

The facts in the instant case are similar if not mere egregious. Within a week prior to the accident, respondent, Tracy Stratton, had driven said road and negotiated said depression.

Seven persons were in the automobile at the time of the accident, three in the front seat and four in the back. (Gubler depo., p. 30-31). Dawnette Gubler was

sitting on the console between the driver's seat and the passenger seat in the front. (A seating arrangement which is prohibited by section 41-6-108, U.C.A., (1953, as amended). The driver was exceeding the speed limit by some 20 - 25 miles per hour. One female asked the driver to stop and let her out. In the curve and just before the depression in the road, the driver turned the vehicle into the opposite lane of traffic, passed through the depression and the vehicle became airborne. The driver then lost control and the vehicle rolled several times resulting in the death of Timothy Johnathan Wood and Diane Gubler.

The standard of willful misconduct is set forth in the Stack case in the alternative. The second alternative definition is "... the intentional doing of an act with wanton and reckless disregard of the possible consequences." p. 597.

The intentional acts of the driver, Tracy Stratton, were as follows:

1. Improper loading the vehicle with passengers.
2. Driving on a known curved and dangerous road in excess of a posted speed limit.
3. Switching lanes in a curve.

There is a fourth point which is implicit in the

testimony of the witnesses and that is the driver accelerated and switched lanes intentionally to hit the depression at such an angle as to give his vehicle the greatest lift possible in an attempt to make the vehicle airborne. In other words, the actions of the driver were intended by the driver to cause him to become airborne, i.e. loose control of the vehicle.

Even if the evidence cited from the depositions is disputed, there is sufficient evidence therein, that reasonable minds could conclude that the driver engaged in willful misconduct resulting in death.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED PROCEDURALLY IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENTS.

Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on the 26th day of May, 1983, together with their Memorandum in Support thereof. The motion was submitted under Rule 2.8 and without affidavits.

Respondents' motion was not noticed for hearing by either counsel. On the 7th day of June, 1983, the Court called the matter before the Court. No counsel was present and the matter was passed. On the 8th day of June, 1983,

the Court again called the matter and with no counsel being present a minute entry was made stating, "Court to review and rule."

Prior to the Court ruling thereon, and on the 14th day of June, 1983, in opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant filed an Abstract of Deposition. On the following day Appellant filed a Request for Hearing. On the 16th day of June, 1983, Appellant filed two more Abstracts of Depositions in opposition. Also on the 16th day of June, 1983, the Court entered summary judgment on behalf of Respondents.

Appellant being unaware that summary judgment had been entered against him, continued to file documents relating to his opposition to Respondents' motion and filed said documents on the 17th day of June, the 21st day of June, and the 22nd day of June, 1983.

The Appellant gives the above recitation to indicate that the file has sufficient documentation therein to establish issues of material fact.

Five depositions have been taken in this case. The deposition of Tracy Stratton was scheduled for June 27, 1983, and had been arranged with the Court Reporter since the last week in April. The deposition of Winston

Stratton is yet to be taken and other discovery may be necessary. The case is not at issue and summary judgment is premature and inappropriate.

When a moving party relies solely upon the depositions of witnesses to support a Motion for Summary Judgment and the depositions themselves contain testimony and evidence sufficient to raise issues of fact, the moving parties are not entitled to summary judgment and summary judgment is not appropriate as contemplated by Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

POINT III

THE PARENT, AUTOMOBILE OWNER, HEREIN
IS LIABLE UNDER SECTION 41-2-22 UTAH
CODE ANNOTATED (1953, AS AMENDED).

The Respondents' Answer and Memorandum admits that Winston Stratton is the father of Tracy Stratton and the owner of the automobile in question. In Strange v. Ostlund, (Utah) 594 P.2d 881, the Utah Supreme Court held that Section 41-2-22 does apply in a situation where the willful misconduct of the minor driver is in issue. As indicated by the Strange case, a parent can be found liable for the willful misconduct of the minor driver. Respondents rely on Eckols vs. Anderson, 27 U 2d

74, 493 P.2d 304 to support it's proposition that willful misconduct of a minor driver is not sufficient to impose liability upon the owner. The Eckols opinion was rendered in 1972, whereas the Strange vs. Ostlund opinion was rendered in 1979. The Utah Supreme Court discusses the Eckols opinion in the Strange case and distinguishes the same.

The files and records herein contain sufficient admissions by Respondent, Winston Stratton, to establish that he is the father of Tracy Stratton and the owner of the automobile in question.

Section 41-2-22, U.C.A. (1953, as amended) provides for parental liability under the facts admitted to by Respondent, Winston Stratton, in the event it is found that his son, Tracy Stratton, committed wilful misconduct.

SUMMARY

At the time the District Court entered summary judgment for Respondents, they had submitted only a memorandum and depositions of four witnesses to support their motion. Those depositions contain testimony of witnesses sufficient to allow the trier of fact to reasonably conclude:

that Respondent, Tracy Stratton, while operating a motor vehicle, intentionally engaged in acts or intentionally failed to act, with knowledge that serious injury was the probable and not merely a possible result of his actions. Further, the testimony from those depositions is sufficient to raise material issues of fact as to whether or not Tracy Stratton intentionally acted with wanton and reckless misconduct of the possible consequences. Also reasonable persons could conclude that Tracy Stratton, while driving the vehicle, engaged in activities deliberately, intentionally and with wanton conduct with knowledge or appreciation that injuries were likely to result therefrom.

Rule 56(e) contemplates that the Court, when considering a Motion for Summary Judgment, will review the documents submitted by the moving parties and will grant summary judgment only if said documents support that party's position. When a party moves for summary judgment and supports the same with depositions that contain testimony that will defeat the motion, it is inappropriate for the Court to grant summary judgment. The depositions submitted by respondents were replete with testimony of the willful misconduct of the minor driver.

The Court erred in granting summary judgment when one Abstract of Deposition was filed two days prior to the Court having ruled on the Respondents' motion and when a Request for Hearing was filed one day prior to the ruling.