1983

Timothy Leonard Wood, Individually And Timothyleonard Wood, As Guardian Ad Litem For Timothy Johnathan Wood, A Minor : Brief of Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING UPON THE RECORD ON APPEAL THAT THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

An appellant has the affirmative burden of showing, upon the record on appeal, how the lower court erred with respect to the order or judgment upon which the appeal is based.

Holman v. Sorenson, 556 P.2d 499, 500 (Utah 1976); accord Hamid v. Sew Original, 645 P.2d 496, 497 (Okla. 1982) [Legal error is not presumed from a silent record]. Under Utah law, the judgment of the lower court is presumed correct until

this affirmative burden has been met. Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410, 412-13 (1964).

An appellant's showing of error must be made solely upon the record before the reviewing court. This Court has consistently followed the well-recognized rule of appellate review that matters not a part of the record before the reviewing court need not, and indeed cannot, be considered in connection with the appeal. Uckerman v. Lincoln National Life Insurance Company, 588 P.2d 142, 144 (Utah 1978); In re Estate of Cluff, 587 P.2d 128, n. 1 (Utah 1978). This rule was most recently reaffirmed by this Court's opinion in Robinson & Wells, P.C. v. Warren, No. 18413 (Slip Opinion, July 28, 1983). Justice Oaks, for a unanimous court, wrote:

Plaintiff does not contest these propositions, but maintains that the reasonableness of its fees is not before us on this appeal. In arguing this point, both parties encumber their briefs with assertions of facts about what went on in the hearing before the arbitrator for which there is no reference to the record and no support in the record. We ignore all such matters and base our decision solely upon the facts shown in the record.

No. 18413, at p. 2.

Where only a partial record is presented to the reviewing court, it is presumed that the remaining record below supports the judgment of the trial court. Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410, 413 (1964); Bennett

Leasing Company v. Ellison, 15 Utah 2d 72, 387 P.2d 246, 247 (1963).

Utah law charges the appellant with the responsibility and burden of bringing before the reviewing court a record upon which the merit of his position can be ascertained. Bennett Leasing Company v. Ellison, supra. In the absence of an appellate record sufficient to document the alleged trial court error, the judgment of the lower court is presumed valid and must be sustained.

In Richards v. Anderson, 9 Utah 2d 17, 337 P.2d 59 (1959), this Court affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissing the plaintiff's claim for damages arising from an intersection collision. The Court wrote:

When a summary judgment is granted against a party, he is entitled to have the trial court, and this court on review, consider all of the evidence and every inference fairly to be derived therefrom in the light most favorable to him. This rule, relied upon by the plaintiff, is not very helpful here because the only facts before us are contained in the above-mentioned documents and the recitals in the judgment signed by the trial court based upon the pretrial conference. In the absence of any other record it stands unassailed as reflecting the facts presented to the court. If the plaintiff contends to the contrary, he has the burden of bringing the record here to show otherwise, because the burden is upon the appellant to show error.

337 P.2d at 60 [Footnotes omitted].

Similarly, in Joseph, M.D. v. Markovitz, M.D., 551 P.2d 571 (Ariz. App. 1976), the appellate court was called upon to

review a summary judgment granted by the trial court in favor of the defendants. In affirming the judgment, the Arizona Court of Appeals followed the same rationale relied upon by the Utah court:

We recognize that a summary judgment must be viewed in a light most favorable to the party against whom it was directed and that it is inappropriate if there is any doubt as to whether an issue of material fact exists. . . . However, when a motion for summary judgment is supported by proof of specific facts which would defeat plaintiff's claim, plaintiff must then come forward to show the existence of a genuine factual issue. . . .

On appeal, an appellant must be able to point to an issue of fact in the record which renders the summary judgment improper. . . . The record here is void of any evidence [supporting plaintiff's allegations].

551 P.2d at 574 [Citations omitted].

In his brief, plaintiff relies upon four depositions taken by these defendants below for the proposition that there exists a material question of fact as to whether the defendants were guilty of willful misconduct in causing the accident. [Brief of Appellant, pp. 2-6]. Despite his alleged reliance on these depositions, plaintiff failed to designate them as a part of the record on appeal. [R. 65-66]. Plaintiff's belated attempt to supplement the record on appeal to include these depositions is not only untimely but ineffective. At this juncture of the proceedings, the record on appeal may only be modified by stipulation of the

parties or court order. Rule 75(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410,413 (1964). Plaintiff has never obtained an appropriate order and, therefore, the depositions are not a part of the record before this Court.

Since the evidence relied upon by the appellant for his showing of error by the lower court is not a proper part of the record on appeal, Utah case law dictates that the judgment granted these defendants by the trial court be presumed correct, that the record below be presumed to support the trial court's ruling, and that the judgment of the trial court be affirmed.

POINT II.

THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT WAS PROPER, GIVEN PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO MAKE A SPECIFIC SHOWING TO THE LOWER COURT OF AN ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WHICH WOULD PRECLUDE SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANTS.

Summary judgment is the appropriate remedy to avoid the time, effort and expense of trial, for both the parties and court, where the pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine dispute regarding any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Holbrook Company v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975).

plaintiff contends on appeal that the lower court erred in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment for three reasons: (1) the motion was premature given the posture of the case [Brief of Appellant, p. 13]; (2) the motion was defective because it was not supported by affidavits [Brief of Appellant, pp. 5-7]; and (3) the case record before the lower court contained material questions of fact on the issue of defendants' willful misconduct [Brief of Appellant, p. 7].

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, governs the timing and procedure for summary judgment motions. Rule 56(a) provides:

A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of twenty days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof. [Emphasis added].

The underscored language refutes plaintiff's first two allegations of error.

A. The Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was Timely.

The defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was not filed until the plaintiff's Complaint had been on file for over nine months, a much longer time period than the twenty days required by Rule 56(a). The motion was therefore timely filed.

The plaintiff impliedly argues that the defendants' motion was also premature because the plaintiff still contemplated doing additional discovery. [Brief of Appellant, pp. 12-13]. Plaintiff's desire to pursue further discovery is not a sufficient ground for denying defendants' motion. Only when an adverse party indicates to the court that he is unable to respond to a motion for summary judgment because of a lack of discovery need further discovery be allowed prior to the trial court ruling on the motion. Strand v. Assoc. Students of the Univ. of Utah, 561 P.2d 191, 193-94 (Utah 1977). If that is the case, the proper procedure is for the adverse party to file with the court an affidavit setting out the reasons why he needs further discovery to oppose the motion. Rule 56(f), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. No affidavit was filed by counsel for plaintiff in this case. Even where a proper affidavit is filed, it is not an abuse of the court's discretion to deny the party's request for further time to do discovery where the party has had ample time to initiate discovery but has done little or nothing. Kimbley v. City of Green River, 642 P.2d 443, 444, n. 2 (Wyo. 1982) [Plaintiff did not pursue discovery during three months between filing of complaint and defendants' motions for summary judgment]. Plaintiff had ample opportunity to depose defendants or whomever he wished prior to the filing of

defendants' motion, or to file an affidavit telling the trial court why additional time was needed.

B. Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was Properly Supported.

The language of Rule 56(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, specifically recognizes that a party may move for summary judgment with or without supporting affidavits. Contrary to plaintiff's assertion, summary judgment may still be appropriate where the moving party relies, as in this case, upon depositions and not affidavits in support of his motion. Clegg v. Lee, 30 Utah 2d 242, 516 P.2d 348, 352 (1973) [Citing United American Life Ins. Co. v. Willey, 21 Utah 2d 279, 444 P.2d 755 (1968)].

C. Plaintiff did not Present Timely Opposition to Defendants' Motion in the Lower Court.

Once a defendant files a motion for summary judgment with supporting evidence challenging the allegations of the complaint, a plaintiff may not rest on his pleading but must respond and set forth specific facts which show that there is a genuine issue for trial. Thornock v. Cook, 604 P.2d 934, 939 (Utah 1979); Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. If he fails to so respond, judgment may be entered against him. Id.

The practice of the lower court with respect to motions for summary judgment is governed not only by Rule 56, Utah

Rules of Civil Procedure, but by Rule 2.8, Rules of Practice in the District Courts and Circuit Courts of the State of Utah. Rule 2.8 provides:

(a) All motions, except in uncontested or ex-parte matters, shall be accompanied by a statement of points and authorities and any affidavits relied upon in support thereof.

(b) The responding party shall file and serve upon all parties within ten (10) days after service of the motion, a statement of answering points and authorities and counter affidavits.

(c) The moving party may serve and file reply points and authorities within five (5) days after service of responding party's points and authorities. Upon the expiration of such five (5) day period to file reply points and authorities, either party may notify the clerk to submit the matter for decision.

(d) Decision shall be rendered without oral argument unless oral argument is requested by the court, in which event the clerk shall set a date and time for argument.

(e) In all cases where the granting of a motion would dispose of the action on the merits, with prejudice, the party resisting the motion may request oral argument, and such request shall be granted unless the motion has been summarily denied. If no such request is made, oral argument shall be deemed to have been waived.

(f) Provided, however, that any District Court and any Circuit Court by order of the Judge or Judges of the court may exclude that court from the operation of this rule 2.8 in which case an alternative procedure shall be prescribed by written administrative order or rule.

Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Publish, along with the required supporting Memorandum of

points and Authorities, was served upon counsel for plaintiff by mail on May 25, 1983. Plaintiff has never denied receipt of these documents. Allowing time for mailing, plaintiff's response to the motion and any request for oral argument were due on or before June 7, 1983. Judge Burns calculated the same timetable and placed the matter on his calendar for that day. Judge Burns called the matter on June 7. No response had been filed. Judge Burns then continued the matter to the following day's calendar, by which time any written response would have to have been filed. Plaintiff did not appear on June 8 and no opposing memorandum or counter-affidavits were on file. Judge Burns then took the matter under advisement.

The following day, June 9, 1983, defense counsel was notified that their Motion for Summary Judgment was granted. A form of judgment was prepared and mailed to Judge Burns and plaintiff's counsel that same day. Counsel for plaintiff claims he did not know the motion had been granted, although he has never denied receipt of the proposed form of Judgment with transmittal letter. [Brief of Appellant, p. 12]. Despite this denial, it seems more than a coincidence that plaintiff submitted deposition abstracts, memoranda, notices of deposition, and other materials in opposition to defendants' motion just after he received the summary judgment and transmittal letter.

Plaintiff argues in his brief that, even though he failed to file timely opposition to defendants' motion, Judge Burns erred in granting the motion because a question of material fact concerning the issue of defendants' willful misconduct can be found in the deposition testimony available for review by the lower court. Even assuming arguendo that (1) a question of fact exists upon the deposition testimony, and (2) the depositions are part of the appellate record, plaintiff has still not shown that the lower court erred in granting defendants' motion. The plaintiff, not the trial court, has the responsibility to search the record below and set out, by timely opposition, the facts which show a material issue for trial which precludes summary judgment. A trial court's crowded calendar does not permit it to do the lawyer's work as well as its own, searching hundreds of pages of deposition testimony for evidence to support a plaintiff's case prior to ruling. Plaintiff's argued position not only reads Rule 56(e) out of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, but rewards indolence rather than diligence.

POINT III.

UNDER PRESENT UTAH LAW, THE JUDGMENT OF THE
LOWER COURT WAS PROPER UPON ANY VIEW OF THE
RECORD.

These defendants contend, as argued in the foregoing points, that the plaintiff has waived his right to rely upon

the deposition testimony taken below to contest the lower court's ruling because: (1) the depositions are not properly a part of the record on appeal; and (2) the plaintiff did not rely upon the depositions to formulate a timely opposition to defendants' motion in the lower court. While reasserting this position, defendants feel it is appropriate, given the plaintiff's reference in his brief to selected parts of the deposition testimony, to refer to the depositions to show the Court that Judge Burns' decision is proper and should be affirmed upon any state of the record. The Statement of Facts with accompanying deposition references set forth in plaintiff's brief is incomplete and, as to several matters, inaccurate and misleading. The following is offered to supplement and correct the plaintiff's recitation of the facts.

The accident occurred on Friday, April 23, 1982. At the time of the accident, defendant Tracy Stratton and Timothy Johnathan Wood were students at Hurricane High School. The two boys were good friends. They lifted weights together and belonged to a close circle of friends which included Donette Gubler, Diane Gubler, Gail Ruesch, Hein Ha and Paul Keene. [Deposition of Paul Keene, taken October 18, 1982, pp. 6-7 (hereinafter "Keene"); deposition of Donette Gubler, taken October 18, 1982, pp. 7, 9, 11 (hereinafter "Gubler");

deposition of Gail Ruesch, taken October 18, 1982, pp. 5-6, R (hereinafter "Ruesch").

The day of the accident, Friday, was a slow day at the high school; most of the students were away at a track meet and there was little going on. [Keene, pp. 9-10]. As Tracy Stratton returned from eating lunch at home, Diane Gubler asked him to give her, Donette and Gail a ride in his father's Bronco. Tracy obliged and the group took a short drive down Main Street in Hurricane. [Gubler, pp. 24-27; Ruesch, pp. 10-13]. When they returned to the school, Tracy parked the vehicle and got out to talk to Tim Wood, Paul Keene, Hein Ha and some other boys standing nearby; the girls remained in the Bronco listening to music. [Gubler, p. 29]. The group was bored and so decided to go for a ride. [Keene, pp. 9-10; Gubler, p. 30; Ruesch, p. 11]. Tracy, Tim, Paul and Hein got in the Bronco with the girls and the group of seven teenagers left the high school headed out nearby "airport road." Tracy was driving and Tim was seated in the rear on the passenger side next to his girlfriend, Gail Ruesch. [Ruesch, p. 18].

Airport road is a common place for Hurricane teenagers and other local residents to go for a drive. [Keene, p. 14]. The road runs to the airport through an open, rural area outside the city limits. Out past the airport is an

area known as the "boneyard" where animal carcasses are discarded. [Keene, pp. 9-10]. Many students drive around the dirt roads in the area and it is a popular hunting place. The "boneyard" is also the home of a local legend, the "devil worshipers," and is reputed to be a "scary" place. [Gubler, pp. 22-23, 74; Ruesch, pp. 31-32].

Some distance along the road, out past the city limits, is a gentle S-shaped curve. [Gubler, Ex. 1]. In the middle of the curve lies a depression in the asphalt roadway caused by water runoff and soil erosion. The depression is 2-3 feet deep on the left side (as one drives towards the airport) and tapers off towards the right. [Gubler, pp. 41, 53-54]. The depression or "bump" had been in the roadway sometime prior to April 23, 1982, and both students and community residents have been known to "bounce" their cars a little as they went through it. [Gubler, pp. 20-21, 48, 73; Deposition of Hein Ha, taken October 18, 1982, pp. 15, 20 (hereinafter "Ha")]. There were several such depressions along this road, some worse than the one involved in the accident. [Gubler, p. 73]. All of the passengers in the Bronco, with the exception of Donette Gubler and Gail Ruesch, were familiar with the road and had been through the bump prior to April 23, 1982. [Keene, p. 12; Ha, p. 13; Gubler, pp. 20-21; Ruesch, p. 19].

The accident occurred as Tracy Stratton drove the Bronco through the bump in the curve. The weight of the fully loaded vehicle and its speed caused it to bounce as it came out of the depression and the vehicle slid into gravel on the shoulder of the road. Tracy tried to regain control of the vehicle and successfully pulled it back onto the road surface, but the vehicle then skidded again and rolled over, finally stopping some distance from the curve. Tracy was not intoxicated at the time, and none of the passengers had paid him for the ride. [Keene, p. 25; Gubler, p. 38].

The depositions do not support several assertions made in plaintiff's Statement of Facts. Contrary to plaintiff's representation, Donette Gubler's deposition testimony does not actually establish a speed estimate of 60-65 miles per hour. [Brief of Appellant, p. 4].

Q. When you testified with respect to a speed estimate of 60 to 65, that is just a guess isn't it?

A. Yes. It's from what other people say, because personally, myself I really don't know.

Q. You have no idea whatsoever of what his speed was just prior to the time he hit the dip?

A. Right. So it doesn't give me the right to say how fast. I don't know.

Q. In fact, from the time you crossed the bridge up until the moment that you crashed, you really have no recollection of your own whatsoever, do you?

A. No, I don't. [Gubler, p. 76, ll. 18-25, p. 77, ll. 1-4].

Plaintiff correctly states Gail Ruesch's claim that she asked to be let out of the Bronco as they approached the bump. [Brief of Appellant, p. 4]. However, plaintiff omits Tim Wood's calm response to his girlfriend's alleged hysterics.

Only Tim heard that, I think. Donette said she heard something about that too. And he goes, It's okay.

Q. Who said, It's okay?

A. Tim said, It's okay. It's okay. Then we hit the bump, and everybody was laughing, like.

* * *

Q. Did he say it in an excited manner, or did he say it to calm you down, or what was the tone of his voice.

A. Like, It's okay. Now what does that mean?

Q. It was a no-big-deal "It's okay"?

A. Yes.

[Ruesch, p. 24, ll. 20-24, p. 26, ll. 11-15].

Most importantly, there is no evidence, nor any permissible inference from the evidence, that Tracy Stratton intended to frighten anyone, least of all Tim Wood, by trying to get his vehicle airborne through the dip. Plaintiff states in his brief: "There is some evidence that the young men involved, including the driver, intended to frighten the girls and made plans to do so shortly prior to entering the

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